IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JASON CAMPBELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Jay B. Roof

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS
Attorney for Jason Campbell

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In Jason Campbell's trial on a charge of first degree trafficking of stolen tires, the trial court erred in granting the State's request to instruct the jury on second degree, "reckless" trafficking.

2. The trial court violated Mr. Campbell's federal and state constitutional rights to control his defense under State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 309 P.3d 482 (2013), by forcing him to accept an affirmative defense jury instruction over his objection.

3. The court in so doing also violated Mr. Campbell's right to counsel and his Due Process rights.

4. The trial court erred in giving the jury a missing witness instruction.

5. The definition of recklessness relieved the State of its burden of proof on second degree trafficking.

6. The trial court erred in answering a jury inquiry over Mr. Campbell's objection.

7. The trial court erred in denying defense counsel's pre-trial motion to withdraw on the basis of conflict.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. At trial on a charge of first degree trafficking in stolen property, a Sheriff's Deputy testified that Jason Campbell admitted

being pretty sure that the tires, which he obtained from his cousin who had a theft record, were stolen. He also told the Deputy that his neighbor, who advertised the tires online, was not involved and did not know the tires were stolen. Jason testified at trial, however, that he had no idea the tires were stolen, and he had told the Deputy so when he was interrogated. The State either proved all, or nothing – proving that Mr. Campbell had knowledge, or failing to prove he had knowledge. Did the trial court err in granting the State’s request to instruct the jury on the next lower degree of trafficking (second degree, “reckless” trafficking), where a party is not entitled to a lesser offense instruction simply because of the risk that the jury might disbelieve or reject the evidence of the greater crime?

2. On the additional charges of two counts of bail jumping, did the trial court violate Mr. Campbell’s Sixth Amendment and Article 1, section 22 right to control his own defense, by instructing the jury on the affirmative defense?

3. Did the court also violate Mr. Campbell’s Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22 right to counsel and his Due Process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3, requiring automatic reversal?

4. Where Mr. Campbell was not raising the affirmative defense and the witnesses in any event were not peculiarly available to him, did the trial court abuse its discretion in giving the jury a missing witness instruction on ground that he did not call certain witnesses to support it?

5. Did the definition of recklessness, by generically defining the term by reference to disregarding the risk of a "wrongful act," by typographically omitting other language as to what must be disregarded by the defendant, and by telling the jury that the defendant could be deemed reckless if he acted intentionally, relieve the State of its burden of proof on second degree trafficking? Was this manifest constitutional error? Does it require reversal?

6. Over defense objection, the trial court answered a jury inquiry by telling the jury – erroneously -- that the defendant was charged with first degree trafficking, and by telling the jury that this offense was a class B felony. Did the court err by providing the jury with evidence on the first count of bail jumping that had not been elicited in the proofs? Did the trial court also comment on the evidence?

7. Did the trial court err in denying defense counsel's pre-trial motion to withdraw on the basis of conflict, where it was premised on RPC 1.7?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Charging. Jason Campbell was charged with trafficking in stolen property in the second degree. CP 1-3; RCW 9A.82.055. The charge was laid after a Kitsap sheriff's deputy investigated an online Craigslist advertisement placed by Campbell's neighbor, David Hogdgon, offering the sale of several tires. The tires were depicted in a photograph that looked like it had been taken in front of Mr. Campbell's home on Dyes Inlet. They appeared to be similar to the tires that had recently been reported stolen from the LK Auto Repair business. CP 3-11.

When Mr. Campbell refused to plead guilty, the prosecutor added two additional counts, for bail jumping under RCW 9A.76.170, based on Jason having arrived late to two Kitsap court hearings earlier in the pendency of the case, on January 28 and February 4, 2013. The amended information, filed July 22, 2013, also upgraded the trafficking charge, count 1, to trafficking in the first degree pursuant to RCW 9A.82.050. 10/9/13RP at 222-23; CP 18-21 (amended information, charging "knowingly" trafficking).

2. Trial. At trial, Deputy Sonya Matthews testified that Mr. Campbell told her during Mirandized interrogation that his cousin Michael Smith had brought the tires by his house; Campbell was pretty sure they were stolen because of Smith's theft record, but he was adamant that his neighbor Hogdgon was not involved. 10/8/13RP at 78-81, 92, 98.

As to the bail jumping, Mr. Campbell told the jury about how he had no telephone no car and no license; what he did do was carefully and diligently arrange for car rides to court for January 28, and then for February 4, 2013. When these people did not arrive, he begged a ride or walked all the way to the Kitsap court, arriving both times as court was ending.¹ 10/8/13RP at 151-55.

Mr. Campbell objected unsuccessfully to the court's instructing the jury on the lesser offense of second degree trafficking (which was the original charge before it was upgraded to first degree). The jury subsequently issued a verdict of guilty on the second degree offense. 10/9/13RP at 218, 222-23.

¹ The record indicates that Mr. Campbell was able to have the bench warrants issued upon each "Failure to Appear" quickly quashed. Docket in 13-1-00077-4 (entries of 1/28/13 to 2/6/13); Supp. CP ____, ____ (Sub #'s 5, 10) (minutes of 1/31/13 and 2/6/13).

Mr. Campbell also objected to the court instructing the jury on the affirmative defense of Uncontrollable Circumstances, a statutory necessity defense to bail jumping that admits proof of the elements of the crime, and which a defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence. 10/9/13RP at 148-50; 10/9/13RP at 221-22, 227-28.

Following the jury verdict of guilty on the lesser offense of second degree trafficking, and on the two charges of bail jumping, Mr. Campbell was sentenced to standard range terms on the convictions. CP 53-64.

Mr. Campbell timely appeals. CP 65.

D. ARGUMENT

1. MR. CAMPBELL'S SECOND DEGREE TRAFFICKING CONVICTION, PROCURED UNDER A LESSER OFFENSE INSTRUCTION TO WHICH THE PROSECUTION WAS NOT ENTITLED, MUST BE REVERSED.

a. Objection - all or nothing case. The jury in Mr. Campbell's case could either find the State's claim of knowledge proved beyond a reasonable doubt, or reject the claim, and acquit Mr. Campbell of first degree trafficking. As Mr. Campbell stated when objecting to the lesser offense instruction on second degree trafficking, this case was one of "it's all or nothing . . . that would be

the objection.” 10/9/13RP at 223. Mr. Campbell may appeal. RAP 2.5(a).²

b. State’s case of knowledge, and defense case of no knowledge. Kitsap County Sheriff’s Deputy Sonya Matthews related how she investigated the online *Craigslist* advertisement, going to the vicinity of the address listed, where she noticed a property across the street that matched the photograph where the stolen tires had been photographed. 10/8/13RP at 75, 85. Deputy Matthews then observed suspicious tires in the garage area that initially seemed to match the description of the stolen property.

² There was no ‘waiver’ of this issue for appeal on ground that defense counsel at one point agreed with the prosecutor’s legal statement that “both [the State and defense] sides can request [a] lesser included.” 10/9/13RP at 223 (agreeing that lesser offense instructions are “equally available to both the State and defense” per State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 728-29, 953 P.2d 450 (1998)). Mr. Campbell’s counsel specifically objected to the proposed instruction, first indicating to the court that Mr. Campbell had refused to plead guilty to the original second degree charge, resulting in the amended information upgrading the charge to first degree. 10/9/13RP at 222. Mr. Campbell stated that this case was one of “it’s all or nothing.” 10/9/13RP at 223. As counsel properly argued, “that would be the objection.” 10/9/13RP at 223; see also State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 30-31, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (decision about lesser included offenses is partly the defendant’s decision and partly counsel’s after consultation).

Further, of course, conviction for a crime not charged and not classifiable as a lesser offense is always constitutional error, and is always manifest, and thus appealable under RAP 2.5(a)(3). State v. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d 428, 433-34, 197 P.3d 673 (2008) (citing, *inter alia*, State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) and State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (error is manifest where result -- conviction -- is indisputable)); and Wash. Const. article I, section 22 and State v. Irizarry, 111 Wn.2d 591, 592, 763 P.2d 432 (1988) (error to convict a defendant of a crime that is not charged)). The principle is longstanding. See, e.g., State v. Smith, 2 Wn.2d 118, 98 P.2d 647 (1939) (individual charged with larceny could not be convicted of embezzlement).

After some discussion with the resident, Jason Campbell, the Deputy arrested and Mirandized him. 10/8/13RP at 78-81. The Deputy testified that Mr. Campbell gradually admitted to knowing the tires, which his cousin Michael Smith had brought by, were stolen:

But I talked to him about knowing that they were stolen, and he told me that he was pretty sure that they were stolen, but he didn't ask [Smith] so he didn't know for sure.

10/8/13RP at 81. When Deputy Matthews told the defendant outright that the stolen tires were on his property, Mr. Campbell admitted that he did know what she was talking about; he said he had received the tires from his cousin, Smith, who had been involved in "theft issues" before. 10/8/13RP at 92. Mr. Campbell defended his neighbor, David Hogdgon, who had listed the tires online; the Deputy testified that

Jason was adamant that the neighbor did not know they were stolen, that David was not involved in this.

10/8/13RP at 98.

In the defense case, Mr. Campbell testified that Michael Smith had showed up at his house with some tires. Smith told Jason that he had purchased them for his Jeep but they did not fit the vehicle. 10/8/13RP at 160-61. Smith also wanted to borrow

some kind of tool or jack to try and make them fit; Mr. Campbell told Smith to take the tires “down the road,” and Mr. Smith left, perhaps to make arrangements with David Hogdgon to sell the tires online. 10/8/13RP at 159-61. When Smith left Jason’s house, he took the tires with him – they did not ever stay on the Campbell property or at the Campbell house. 10/8/13RP at 161-62.

Jason testified that he told Deputy Matthews, when she showed up and questioned him several days later, that he did not know the tires were stolen and “[he] had no idea what she was talking about.” Id.

Mr. Campbell also told the jury that, in hindsight, the Deputy’s inquiry about stolen tires now made sense, because he knew from the newspaper about things Michael Smith had been involved in, like thievery. 10/8/13RP at 162, 174. However, prior to that conversation with the Kitsap deputy, Mr. Campbell never thought that the tires might be stolen. 10/8/13RP at 162. When pressed as to whether he even did “feel at all” that Smith’s tires might be stolen at any time when Smith had arrived, and then left with the tires, Jason testified:

Not at all. If they were chrome rims or something flashy. They were regular tires. No reason to think

they were stolen. They were nothing out of the ordinary, very ordinary.

10/8/13RP at 163. Mr. Campbell did not even know these tires had been listed for sale online, until Deputy Matthews interrogated him about that also. 10/8/13RP at 172-73, 175-76.³

c. Instructing the jury on the lesser offense of second degree trafficking was not permissible under the factual prong of the *Workman/TamalinilFernandez-Medina* analysis. Upon the prosecutor's request for the instruction, the trial court gave it, over Mr. Campbell's objection and exception. 10/9/13RP at 218, 222-23 (objection), 227-28 (exception); CP 38-42 (lesser offense jury instructions).

The State was not entitled to the second degree trafficking instruction under lesser offense analysis of Workman and Fernandez-Medina, infra, and the giving of that instruction over his specific objection was error.

³ In any event, the tires that Deputy Matthews saw at Mr. Campbell's house had nothing to do with any tires stolen from LK Auto Repair; the actual stolen tires were later located on a car being driven by . . . Michael Smith. 10/8/13RP at 78, 83, 87-89. Smith testified as a defense witness that he purchased the tires in July or August of 2012, from a woman in a pick-up truck who approached him at Hank's gas station near Chico. Mr. Smith later visited his friend Mr. Campbell's home on Dyes Inlet to use tools to try to fit the tires to his Jeep. 10/9/13RP at 192-94. He did not speak with Campbell that day, and left the tires at the property briefly but shortly retrieved them. 10/9/13RP at 192-95.

d. A lesser offense instruction on reckless trafficking may not be obtained based on a concern that the jury may disbelieve or reject the State's accusation of knowledge.

Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution⁴ and Article 1, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, a criminal defendant may only be convicted of those offenses charged in the information, or those offenses which are either lesser included offenses, or inferior degrees of the charged offense. Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 717-18, 109 S.Ct. 2091, 103 L.Ed.

⁴ The Sixth Amendment, which governs several issues in the present case, provides in part:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

U.S. Const. amend. 6. The Washington Constitution, Article 1 section 22 provides in pertinent part:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the offense is charged to have been committed and the right to appeal in all cases[.]

Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22.

734 (1989); State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 731, 953 P.2d 450 (1998) (citing State v. Irizarry, 111 Wn.2d 591, 592, 763 P.2d 432 (1998) and RCW 10.61.003); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Wash. Const. Article 1, § 22.

An instruction on a lesser included offense is warranted where: (1) each element of the lesser offense must necessarily be proved to establish the greater offense as charged (the “legal prong” of the analysis); and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that only the lesser offense was committed (the “factual prong”). State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997) (relying on State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)). Similarly, it has been stated that an instruction for an inferior degree offense is proper only where:

the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed inferior degree offense “proscribe but one offense;” [and] there is evidence that the defendant committed only inferior offense.

Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d at 732. Thus, “the test for determining if a party is entitled to an instruction on an inferior degree offense differs from the test for entitlement to an instruction on a lesser included offense only with respect to the legal component of the test.” State v. Fernandez–Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d

1150 (2000). The “factual prong” of both tests is the same: the evidence must support an inference that the defendant committed **only** the lesser included or inferior degree offense. Fernandez–Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 445–46.

Thus the instruction should be given only “[i]f the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater.” State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 563, 947 P.2d 708 (1997) (citing Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980)).⁵

It is true that in applying the factual prong for either type of lesser offense, a court must view the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. Fernandez-Medina, at 455-56. However, the rule is that an instruction on a lesser offense is not proper simply because the jury might disbelieve the State’s case. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 456. Instead, the affirmative evidence must support the inference that only the lesser offense was committed. Fernandez-Medina, at 455-56; State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948

⁵ The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's determination of the factual prong of the Workman test for an abuse of discretion. State v. LaPlant, 157 Wn. App. 685, 687, 239 P.3d 366 (2010). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or untenable reasons. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001).

P.2d 381 (1997) (the evidence must support inference that the defendant "committed only the inferior offense") (quoting State v. Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466, 472, 589 P.2d 789 (1979); State v. Daniels, 56 Wn. App. 646, 651, 784 P.2d 579 (1990)); see also State v. Henderson, ___ Wn. App. ___, 321 P.3d 298 (Wash. App. Div. 2, March 19, 2014) (NO. 42603-0-II) (citing State v. Perez–Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 481, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000) (to determine whether factual prong is satisfied, court determines whether facts affirmatively establish guilt of lesser offense, to the exclusion of greater offense)).

Importantly, a person “knows” or acts with knowledge when he is aware of facts or circumstances described by a statute defining an offense, or he has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that such facts exist. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b). The statutory definition of “knowledge,” as a type of criminal *mens rea*, permits the jury to find that the defendant had actual knowledge if it finds that an ordinary person would have had knowledge under the circumstances. CP 36; Sarausad v. State, 109 Wn. App. 824, 837-38 and n. 6, 39 P.3d 308 (2001); see also State v. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 510, 516, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980); State v. Keend, 140 Wn. App. 858, 869, 166 P.3d

1268 (2007) (both stating that the jury is permitted to find the defendant had subjective knowledge if there is sufficient information that would lead a reasonable person to believe that the fact exists).⁶

In Mr. Campbell's case, proof of knowledge could only be rejected by disbelieving the State's evidence that Mr. Campbell knew the tires were stolen or had information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that the tires were stolen. Here, the evidence supported only one of two conclusions (1) Mr. Campbell knew the tires were stolen, see, e.g., 10/8/13RP at 178-81, 192 (testimony of Deputy Matthews); or (2) Mr. Campbell, as he stated in his defense, had "no idea" the tires could be stolen. 10/8/13RP at 157-59. Jason Campbell was either guilty of knowingly trafficking stolen property, or he was not guilty because he had no knowledge. The jury was not entitled to issue a compromise verdict of 'reckless' trafficking, and the prosecutor was not entitled to place that compromise option before the jury. The evidence itself must support an inference that only the lesser

⁶ In contrast, a person is reckless or acts recklessly when he or she knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur and the disregard of such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation. See RCW 9A.08.010(1)(c); see CP 40 (employing "wrongful act" language).

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