#### NO. 45488-2-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JASON SCOTT CAMPBELL,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 13-1-00077-4

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SERVICE

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

Here, on the other hand, the affirmative defense of uncontrollable circumstances does not negate any element of the offense of bail jumping. *State v. Fredrick*, 123 Wn. App. 347, 353-354, 97 P.3d 47 (2004). Campbell admitted to all of the elements of the charges. He nevertheless insisted upon offering an excuse for the charges. The trial court gave him the opportunity to not present this evidence, which was irrelevant to any element of the offense. Nor did Campbell's testimony pertain to any element of the offense. Under these circumstances, the trial court did not deny Campbell's right to present a defense. Instead it instructed the jury on the proper legal effect of the evidence presented at trial. This claim should be rejected.

# 2. Any error would be harmless where Campbell admitted to every element of bail jumping.

Moreover, even if the trial court erred, any error would be harmless. Violation of a defendant's right to control his own defense is subject to review for harmless error. *Jones*, 99 Wn.2d at 748; *Coristine*, 177 Wn.2d at 380. Here the alleged error is harmless because Campbell admitted that he failed to appear for both court dates after knowing that he was required to appear. Instruction 16 informed the jury that to convict Campbell of the crime of bail jumping, the State had to prove the following beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about January 28, 2013,<sup>[3]</sup> the defendant failed to appear before a court;

(2) That the defendant was charged with a class B or class C felony;

(3) That the defendant had been released by court order or with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 44.

Campbell's own testimony, as noted above, leaves no reasonable doubt that he committed these offenses. He admitted that he was not in court at 10:30 a.m. on January 28, 2013, or February 4, 2013. RP 136, 138, 153, 154, 167. He testified that he recognized Exhibit 5B, a certified copy of the court order showing that he had a court date on January 28 at 10:30 a.m. in Room 212; he acknowledged that had signed it and received a copy. RP 137, 165. He also testified that he knew he was supposed to be in court on February 4 at 10:30. RP 154, 167.

The State admitted a certified copy of the felony complaint filed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Instruction 17 is identical but substitutes "February 4, 2013." CP 45.

district court charging Campbell with second-degree trafficking in stolen property. CP 76. It admitted the release order requiring Campbell to appear on January 28, which bore his signature. CP 80. It admitted the district court docket reflecting that Campbell had received a copy of the order. CP 83. It admitted the clerk's minutes that showed that Campbell had not yet appeared on January 28 when the courtroom was polled at 11:00, a half hour after he was supposed to be there. CP 95.

The State also admitted the information filed in superior court on January 18, 2013 charging Campbell with second-degree trafficking in stolen property. CP 85. The State also admitted the order setting the February 4 hearing, which also bore Campbell's signature. CP 90. It admitted clerk's minutes showing that Campbell was given oral and written notice of the February 4 hearing. CP 89. It admitted the clerk's minutes that showed that Campbell had not yet appeared on February 4 when the courtroom was polled at 11:55, an hour and a half after he was supposed to be there. CP 92.

Unlike in *Lynch* and *Coristine*, Campbell offered no evidence went to any element of the offense. Thus, even without the affirmative defense instructions, there is no reasonable doubt that the jury would have convicted Campbell of both counts of bail jumping. Any alleged error would be harmless.

#### 3. The defense instruction did not constitute a limitation on Campbell's right to present argument: a defendant has no right to present argument that is contrary to the law.

Nor does Campbell's claim that the limitation on his counsel's ability to argue his defense have merit. A criminal defendant has the right to present his defense. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14–15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). But this right is not unlimited.

"[A]rgument by counsel must be restricted to the facts in evidence and the applicable law, lest the jury be confused or misled." *State v. Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d 468, 474, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). Consequently, the trial judge has discretion to restrict closing arguments. *Id.* The Court in *Perez-Cervantes* specifically cited to the very case upon which Campbell relies:

"The presiding judge must be and is given great latitude in controlling the duration and limiting the scope of closing summations.... He may ensure that argument does not stray unduly from the mark, or otherwise impede the fair and orderly conduct of the trial. In all these respects he must have broad discretion."

*Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d at 474-75 (*quoting Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S. Ct. 2550, 45 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1975)); *accord State v. Frost*, 160 Wn.2d 765, 781-782, 161 P.3d 361 (2007) ("the scope of argument may be limited by the trial court"). The Supreme Court has thus held that the defense closing must be confined to the law as set forth in the instructions to the jury. *Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d at 475. Restrictions

on the scope of argument are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id.

Here, the trial court did not actually limit closing argument. All it did, as discussed above, was instruct the jury on the law that applied to the evidence Campbell presented at trial. To the extent that the trial court could be seen as limiting Campbell's argument, it prevented him from claiming a "defense" that was not supported in fact or law. Surely Campbell has no fundamental right to present such a defense.

## 4. Limitations on closing argument are not structural error, and any error here would be harmless.

Further even if the trial court erred, any error would be harmless.

The purported error is not, would not, as Campbell claims, be structural.

In the Supreme Court specifically rejected such a contention:

The right to make argument through counsel is unquestionably fundamental, but the scope of argument may be limited by the trial court. Such a limitation does not necessarily "render[] a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence."" Recuenco, 126 S. Ct. at 2551 (quoting Neder, 527 U.S. at 9). Rather, an erroneous limitation of the scope of closing argument merely affects the "trial process itself," Fulminante, 499 U.S. at 310, and is analogous to the numerous other constitutional errors identified by the Supreme Court as subject to harmless error analysis. Id. at 306-07 (listing errors subject to harmless error analysis including: jury instruction misstating an element of the offense; erroneous exclusion of a defendant's testimony regarding circumstances of his confession, restriction on a defendant's right to cross-examine a witness for bias, denial of a defendant's right to be present at all critical stages, and denial of counsel at a preliminary hearing). Accordingly, we hold that the trial court's error in limiting

the scope of closing argument in the present case was not structural and is subject to harmless error analysis.

Frost, 160 Wn.2d at 781-782. This point was reiterated in Coristine:

To be clear, absolute denial of a defendant's right to control the defense is structural error and not subject to harmless-error analysis. *See*, *e.g.*, *McKaskle*, 465 U.S. at 177 n.8. However, we review lesser deprivations of this right for harmless error. *See Jones*, 99 Wn.2d at 748, 664 P.2d 1216. As in *Jones*, the error here was not an absolute deprivation.

Coristine, 177 Wn.2d at 380 n.1.

The Supreme Court has adopted the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test as the proper standard for harmless error analysis in Washington. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). "Under this test, the Court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." *Id.* A finding of harmless error requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that "any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the error." *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 425.

Here, the trial court's supposed limitation did not taint the evidence before the jury in any way, as counsel's argument is not evidence. Thus, all the evidence of Campbell's guilt, including his admissions to all the elements of bail jumping, may be considered in determining whether the trial court's error was harmless. Given this

i

evidence, and the fact that "my ride did not show up" is not a valid defense to these charges, it must be concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that "any reasonable jury" would have convicted Campbell, even absent the trial court's supposed limitation on counsel's argument. *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 425; *see also State v. Berube*, 150 Wn.2d 498, 509, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003) (upholding finding of harmless error as a result of erroneous accomplice liability instruction, in part, because "the record clearly support[ed] a finding that the jury verdict of conviction would be the same absent the error"). This claim should be rejected.

### C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GAVE A MISSING WITNESS INSTRUCTION WHERE CAMPBELL BLAMED HIS ABSENCE FROM COURT ON THE FAILURE OF HIS MOTHER AND AN UNNAMED FRIEND TO GIVE HIM A RIDE.

Campbell next claims that the trial court erred in giving a missing witness instruction. This claim is without merit because as previously discussed, Campbell testified, without any corroboration, that he missed court because his mother and an unnamed friend failed to pick him up. These individuals were clearly peculiarly available to him. Moreover, any error would be harmless.

### 1. The trial court properly gave a missing witness instruction where Campbell blamed his absence from court on the failure of his mother and an unnamed friend to give him a ride.

The Supreme Court has held that the missing witness doctrine

applies equally to the State and the defense. *State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 488, 816 P.2d 718 (1991). The doctrine applies when circumstances indicate, as a matter of reasonable probability, that the party against whom the missing witness rule was sought to be applied in the case would not knowingly fail to call the witness in question unless the witness's testimony would be damaging. *Id.* "In other words, 'the inference is based, not on the bare fact that a particular witness is not produced as a witness, but on his non-production when it would be natural for him to produce the witness if the facts known by him had been favorable." *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 488 (*quoting State v. Davis*, 73 Wn.2d 271, 280, 438 P.2d 185 (1968)).

If a witness's absence can be satisfactorily explained, no inference is permitted. *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 489. However, the State does not bear the burden of showing any reason for the absence of the witness. *Id.* It is the party against whom the rule would operate who is entitled to explain the witness's absence and avoid operation of the inference. *Id.* 

The doctrine does not apply if the uncalled witness is equally available to the parties. *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 490. Contrary to Campbell's contentions, this question of availability does not mean that the witness is in court or is subject to the subpoena power. *Id.* For a witness to be "available" to the defendant, "there must have been such a community of interest between the party and the witness, or the party must have so superior an opportunity for knowledge of a witness, as in ordinary experience would have made it reasonably probable that the witness would have been called to testify for such party except for the fact that his testimony would have been damaging." *Id.* 

In *Blair*, the defendant argued that the State could have investigated and tried to locate the witnesses itself, but it did not demonstrate any attempt to do so, nor did the State offer any proof it had tried to identify or subpoena the witnesses. *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 491. The Court rejected that argument:

The requirement, however, is, as one court has put it, that the party seeking benefit of the inference must show the "absent witness was peculiarly within the other party's power to produce". United States v. Williams, 739 F.2d 297, 299 (7th Cir.1984).

*Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 491. Thus, where the missing witnesses appeared on a list in the defendant's possession at the time of his arrest, the instruction was proper. Here the missing witnesses were Campbell's unidentified friend and his mother. It is difficult to conceive of two witnesses more within the peculiar power of a party to produce.

Moreover, unlike in *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 599, 183 P.3d 267 (2008), Campbell's testimony regarding his rides not showing up was not corroborated by any other witness. Also unlike

*Montgomery*, *id.*, since the two witnesses were the individuals who allegedly failed to pick up Campbell, they would presumably have relevant knowledge.

# 2. Under the facts of this case, where the evidence of bail jumping was uncontroverted and where Campbell specifically disavowed the affirmative defense, any error would be harmless.

Campbell further asserts the alleged error was harmful because "[i]n one fell swoop, the trial court (admittedly at the State's vigorous urging), after forcing Mr. Campbell into a surprise, last minute affirmative defense he did not want, then told the jury it could reject that defense because Jason had not brought certain witnesses into court to prove it." Brief of Appellant at 32. This hyperbolic assertion misstates the record. First, as discussed above, the trial court warned Campbell before he introduced the testimony regarding his excuses for missing court that it would result in the instruction on the defense of unavoidable circumstances. Campbell chose to present the testimony anyway, knowing that the instruction would be given.

Secondly, the instruction was a very minor part of the case. In a 15-page closing argument, RP 230-45, the State very briefly mentioned it:

The defendant took the stand and told you, I didn't make the ride because, one, first, my friend didn't get me. I don't recall if he mentioned a name. If it's in your notes, then there's a name you can put on it.

Second, I didn't make it to court on time because my mother didn't come and pick me up. ... I would suggest

to you that it would be reasonable in the uncontrollable circumstance that prevented me from coming to court on time was that my friend didn't come to pick me up, my mother didn't come to pick me up, I would call my friend and my mother to come in and testify this is what was in the way. It wasn't that he gave us a bad time, it wasn't that we tried to explain to him that we were going to be very busy and we might not be able to make it and he has to make other arrangements, that they would come in and presumably testify we tried very, very hard and we couldn't do it. But they did not testify about an issue for which it is the defendant that has the burden of proof.

RP 243-45.

In his closing, Campbell barely even addressed the bail jumping charges, other than to disavow any reliance on the affirmative defense. RP 247. He did not challenge the State's evidence in any way or give the jury any reason to find that the State had not met its burden. In rebuttal, the only passage in an eight-page argument, RP 255-63, that could possibly be seen as a reference to missing witnesses was extremely brief: "Other people were supposed to bring me. What is there to corroborate that? What is there to rely upon?" RP 258.

An erroneous instruction is harmless if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 600. Whether a flawed jury instruction is harmless error depends on the facts of a particular case. *Id.* As previously discussed, Campbell admitted every element of the offense. He denied that he was claiming the affirmative defense. The State's

Ĵ

evidence of bail jumping was overwhelming and uncontroverted. It is difficult to see how this instruction, even if inappropriate, could have had any effect on the verdict whatsoever. This claim should be rejected.

#### D. THE SUPREME COURT HAS RULED THAT THE JURY INSTRUCTION THAT DEFINES RECKLESSNESS NEED NOT NAME THE PARTICULAR OFFENSE.

Campbell next claims, for the first time on appeal, that the trial court improperly defined recklessness for the jury. This unpreserved claim is without merit because the cases on which he relies have been overruled.

Campbell argues that the trial court erred when it improperly defined "reckless" in the jury in Instruction 12, which informed the jury:

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